
MINUTES
SENATE JUDICIARY & RULES COMMITTEE

DATE: Wednesday, February 19, 2025
TIME: 1:30 P.M.
PLACE: Room WW54
MEMBERS
PRESENT:

Chairman Lakey, Vice Chairman Shippy, Senators Ricks, Foreman, Lent,
Lenney, Keyser, Wintrow, and Ruchti

ABSENT/
EXCUSED:

None

NOTE: The sign-in sheet, testimonies and other related materials will be retained with
the minutes in the committee's office until the end of the session and will then
be located on file with the minutes in the Legislative Services Library.

CONVENED: Chairman Lakey called the meeting of the Senate Judiciary and Rules
Committee (Committee) to order at 2:25 p.m.

RS 32423 Senator Shippy stated RS 32423 was a resolution to approve the 2025
Administrative Rules from the Senate Judiciary and Rules Committee.

MOTION: Senator Ricks moved to approve the RS 32423. Senator Wintrow seconded
the motion. The motion carried by voice vote.
Chairman Lakey explained that RS 32371 would be heard at a later date to
give Senator VanOrden time to make necessary corrections.

RS 32435 Senator Wintrow said this legislation created a protective placement or a
crisis hold for someone with a neurocognitive disorder. Some police officers
were concerned with liability issues related to protective placement and felt
adding "imminent danger" to the legislation would reduce the liability they
might encounter.

MOTION: Senator Foreman moved to send RS 32435 to print. Senator Shippy
seconded the motion. The motion carried by voice vote.

MINUTES
APPROVAL:

Senator Lent moved to approve the Minutes of January 29, 2025. Senator
Wintrow seconded the motion. The motion carried by voice vote.

MINUTES
APPROVAL:

Senator Lenney moved to approve the Minutes of February 3, 2025. Senator
Wintrow seconded the motion. The motion carried by voice vote.

GUBERNATORIAL
REAPPOINTMENT
VOTE:

Vote on the Gubernatorial Reappointment of Matthew Thomas to the Sex
Offender Management Board (SOMB) to serve a term commencing January
1, 2025. Senator Wintrow moved to send the Gubernatorial Reappointment
of Matthew Thomas to the Senate floor with a recommendation that he be
confirmed. Senator Ricks seconded the motion. The motion carried by voice
vote.

GUBERNATORIAL
REAPPOINTMENT
VOTE:

Senator Ricks moved to send the Gubernatorial Reappointment of Mike
Matthews to the Senate floor with a recommendation that he be confirmed.
Senator Wintrow seconded the motion. The motion carried by voice vote.

H 37 H 37 Relating to Methods of Execution. Senator Ricks reminded the
Committee that previously the Legislature passed a bill which added the firing
squad as a method of execution if the drugs for the lethal injections were not
available. Idaho had a failed execution attempt in 2024 because of an issue
with the IV insertion. H 37 reversed the first two options for the executions and
made the firing squad first and lethal injection second.



DISCUSSION: Senator Ruchti questioned why this legislation was being considered and how
the firing squad took place. Senator Ricks responded since the 2024 failed
lethal injection attempt, this bill provided another option. He explained that the
process used would be developed through the Department of Corrections.
Senator Ruchti asked if the firing squad would lead to more litigation. Senator
Ricks stated anything involving a death warrant required litigation and the firing
squad would be a sure process. The Director of the Department of Corrections
had committed to develop as humane a process as possible.
Senator Foreman inquired if there had been any push back on the bill. Senator
Ricks said most of the push back he had received came from people who did
not want the death penalty.
Senator Lenney asked how much money had been spent on Thomas Creech
(failed execution inmate) to keep him alive. Senator Ricks stated he didn't
have those figures and suggested Senator Lenney ask Lamont Anderson from
the Idaho Attorney General's office.

TESTIMONY: Lamont Anderson, Deputy Attorney General, Capitol Litigation Unit, said his
purpose was to provide information regarding the firing squad and answer
questions. There had been 144 inmates executed in the United States by firing
squad. There were three executions since 1976, all in the State of Utah, and all
three went without any incident. He stated the legality of the firing squad was
absolute and, he provided several sources for reference. A familiar case was
Wilkerson vs.The State of Utah. The United States Supreme Court said that
the firing squad did not violate the Eighth Amendment, the cruel and unusual
punishment clause. There were advantages to the firing squad. The amount
of litigation surrounding the protocol, such as obtaining the execution drugs,
searching for veins to insert an IV in, and not having a requirement for a medical
doctor to insert a central line, would all reduce expenses and litigation. The
judges were overwhelmed by their case loads and simply did not have the time
it took to make the decision.
A discussion was held regarding the number of executions by firing squad and
the number that were potentially botched prior to 1976.

TESTIMONY: Dianna David stated she did not support H 37. Ms. David explained if this
legislation passed, Idaho would be the only state with the firing squad as a
first option. There was a significant amount of money required to complete a
specialized chamber for the executions. She added she believed there were
sufficient sources of the needed lethal drugs. Ms. David said there was too
much focus on the condemned criminal and no one seemed to be thinking
about the journalists, the family, the staff, and the cleanup crew. Utah changed
their law from using firing squad as the first option for execution after two years.
Daniel Murphy testified in favor of H 37. Mr. Murphy was adamant about
the necessity of the death penalty. He believed the anti-death penalty people
wanted to make it harder for states to receive the lethal drugs needed to end
the lives of the perpetrators. He agreed with Justice Sotomayor that the firing
squad was a more humane method of execution and would cause instant death.

DISCUSSION: Senator Ricks added that those people who would attend an execution were
volunteers. He reminded the Committee that last year legislation was passed to
use a firing squad. The current legislation only changed the order from it being
the second option to it being first. Idaho did have capital punishment and this
helped to fulfill the Legislature's rule of law, duty and responsibility.

MOTION: Senator Keyser moved to send H 37 to the floor with a do pass
recommendation. Senator Lenney seconded the motion.

SENATE JUDICIARY & RULES COMMITTEE
Wednesday, February 19, 2025—Minutes—Page 2



DISCUSSION: Senator Foreman stated the topic of this bill was not the legality of the firing
squad. The topic was the firing squad being the primary method of execution.
He stated he did not believe in the use of a firing squad. He believed it was
inhumane and beneath the dignity of Idaho. He did not support the motion.
Senator Lenney spoke in favor of the firing squad. He referenced Thomas
Creech, who was currently on death row, and stated it was not humane to
murder him, but what he did to eleven people was not humane either. Senator
Keyser agreed that there should be more focus on the victims of the crimes
and use of the firing squad to bring swift justice for them.
Senator Ruchti stated his main concern was the amount of money being spent
to keep the prisoners housed. There was not a lot of data related to firing
squad executions. The bullets missed Mr. Wilkerson's heart, and it took him 27
minutes to die. Reports described the Utah execution as bizarre, grotesque,
and a horribly botched execution. Senator Ruchti concluded that there was
potential for botched executions, and it was important to include expenses for
possible medical bills. He pointed out the potential that an Idaho judge could
find the firing squad cruel and unusual and that would result in considerable
litigation.
Senator Wintrow said she would not be voting in favor of H 37 because she felt
it needed more discussion and research. She added she felt the firing squad
was too brutal and was unacceptable as a primary method of execution.
Senator Shippy expressed the death penalty had been used as a deterrent for
these crimes. He added the method used for execution did have an effect on
future perpetrators and for that reason he would support H 37.
Senator Ricks added there was a lot of litigation happening with the lethal
injection executions. He felt changing the firing squad to the first option may
end some of the litigation.
Chairman Lakey explained H 37 was not about the death penalty. It was about
moving the firing squad to the primary method of execution. He leaned toward
the victim and the impacts they felt as a result of the individual's actions. They
were entitled to a sure and swift justice. He stated he appreciated Senator Ricks
explanation that those who participated in the executions were there voluntarily.
Chairman Lakey stated legally the focus was on the Eighth Amendment and
the method of execution. There were inmates in other locations asking for the
firing squad rather than lethal injection. He stated he believed the firing squad
was a more humane way of carrying out an execution and he would support the
motion.
The motion carried by voice vote. Senators Ruchti, Foreman and Wintrow
voted Nay.

ADJOURNED: There being no further business before the Committee, Chairman Lakey
adjourned the meeting at 3:10 p.m.

___________________________ ___________________________
Senator Lakey Sharon Pennington
Chair Secretary

SENATE JUDICIARY & RULES COMMITTEE
Wednesday, February 19, 2025—Minutes—Page 3


